IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DESOTO HEALTHCARE INC. d/b/a DESOTO HEALTHCARE CENTER

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2008-IA-01762-SCT

TIMOTHY CONLEY, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS SURVIVOR AND HEIR OF ESTER B. CONLEY, DECEASED

APPELLEE

INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE DESOTO CIRCUIT COURT

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Of Counsel:

Thomas L. Kirkland (MSB **#1999** Andy Lowry (MSB **#1999** COPELAND, COOK, TAYLOR & BUSH, P.A. Post Office Box 6020 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158 Telephone: (601) 856-7200 Facsimile: (601) 856-8242

Counsel for Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether Plaintiff's Complaint Was Untimely Under Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36.
- II. Whether Plaintiff Can Plead Around the Medical Malpractice Statute of Limitations.

÷

ŝ

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course of Proceedings Below

Plaintiff sued Defendant in DeSoto Circuit Court on May 19, 2008, alleging negligence, gross negligence, medical malpractice, breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, and violation of the "Mississippi Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act," all arising out of allegations that Defendants had provided inadequate care and supervision to Ester B. Conley ("Conley") during her residency at Desoto Healthcare Center, a licensed institution for the aged and infirm (more commonly called a "nursing home").

Defendant moved to dismiss on June 19, 2006, citing the statute of limitations. A hearing was conducted on August 22, 2008, and on October 2, 2008, the circuit court (Chamberlin, J.) entered its order denying the motion to dismiss.

Because identical legal issues were pending before this Court in the cause numbered 2008-CA-00688, *Estate of Johnson v. Graceland Center of Oxford, LLC*, Defendant filed its petition for interlocutory appeal on October 23, 2008, which this Court granted in its order of December 12, 2008, consolidating the two appeals.

II. Statement of Relevant Facts

The present appeal is from the granting of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, so that the appeal turns upon matters of law, not fact. Given the importance of dates to the legal arguments, we offer this timeline:

August 2005	Conley enters Desoto facility
Dec. 20, 2005	Conley (via counsel) requests medical records from Desoto
Feb. 23, 2006	Conley leaves Desoto facility

Feb. 27, 2006	Plaintiff receives Conley's records from Desoto
March 19, 2006	Conley passes away
Jan. 10, 2008	Plaintiff serves notice of intent to sue
Feb. 23, 2008	Two years since Conley left facility
Apr. 23, 2008	Two years and 60 days since Conley left facility
May 19, 2008	Plaintiff files Complaint

Notably, Plaintiff was already seeking Conley's medical records in December 2005,

two months before Conley even left the facility, but did not file suit until May 2008.

We now turn to the merits of the case.

ł

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiff filed his medical malpractice suit against Defendants more than two years and 60 days after the decedent left the nursing home where the alleged malpractice occurred, and thus after the statute of limitations had expired. Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(6) allows no more than one year after the death of a person of unsound mind in which to bring suit, and thus does not help Plaintiff. That one-year limit is borrowed from § 15-1-55, and Plaintiff cites a 19th-century precedent as his basis for arguing that this latter statute does not mean what it says on its face; but that precedent applies only to § 15-1-55 itself, not to § 15-1-36(6), which merely sets a time period by reference to the time period stated in § 15-1-55. Alternatively, this Court should either set aside its predecessors' misreading of § 15-1-55 in subsection (6), the Legislature sought to avoid carrying over that misreading.

Plaintiff's other causes of action would effectively abolish the two-year statute of limitations for medical malpractice by allowing it to be pleaded as breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, simple negligence, etc. The case as a whole sounds purely in medical malpractice, so that it was error for the trial court not to dismiss it. provider" (emphasis added) must be construed as including "institutions for the aged or infirm." Of course, this term includes nursing homes like the present facility. *See* Miss. Code Ann. § 43-11-1(a). Thus, the two-year limitations period applies in this case.

Subsection (15) of § 15-1-36 tolls the statute of limitations for up to 60 days if the complaint is filed within 60 days' of the statute's expiration:

If the notice is served within sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations, the time for the commencement of the action shall be extended sixty (60) days from the service of the notice for said health care providers and others.

(emphasis added). Under this Court's interpretation of subsection (15) in *Pope v. Brock*, 912 So. 2d 935 (Miss. 2005), the statute of limitations in medical-malpractice actions runs for two years plus sixty days. *Id.* at 939; *see also Proli v. Hathorn*, 928 So. 2d 169, 174 (Miss. 2006) (clarifying that "the time period is *extended*, not tolled"—hence the "two years plus 60 days").

If, as Plaintiff argues, the statute of limitations ran two years and 60 days from Conley's death on March 19, 2006, then it would run two years to March 19, 2008, and then 60 more days, expiring upon May 18, 2008. Plaintiff therefore contends that his suit was within the statute when it was filed on May 19, 2008 (the Monday after Sunday, May 18).

However, the statute in fact began to run no later than February 23, 2006, the last date upon which Conley was in the care of the facility, which certainly cannot have committed malpractice against her after that date. The wrongful-death claim does not change the analysis, because that statute of limitation "is subject to, and limited by, the statute of limitations associated with the claims of specific wrongful acts which allegedly led to the wrongful death." *Jenkins v. Pensacola Health Trust, Inc.*, 933 So. 2d 923, 926 (Miss. 2006) (overruling *Gentry v. Wallace*, 606 So. 2d 1117 (Miss. 1992)). *Id.* at 926 (emphasis added). Thus, the statute cannot have begun to run from the date of Conley's death.

Two years plus sixty days from February 23, 2006 is April 23, 2008. Thus, the statute had indeed run by May 19, 2008 when Plaintiff filed his suit, for nothing in the Complaint alleges that Defendants did anything to Conley after she left the facility. The last possible date for any malpractice allegation to accrue is in April 2006.

The quelling of a tort action by operation of the statute of limitations may seem "harsh," but the statute of limitations is set by the Legislature for good reason and must be honored. *Miss. Dep't of Pub. Safety v. Stringer*, 748 So. 2d 662, 665-66 (Miss. 1999).

It is therefore not strictly relevant, but perhaps of interest, that Plaintiff was less than diligent in pressing his claim. As shown in the Statement of the Case, above, Plaintiff requested Conley's medical records from the facility even before Conley had left the facility, and received them before Conley had passed away. Then, having been provided those records in February 2006, Plaintiff had those records in his possession for almost two years before he filed the notice of intent to sue, and filed suit on the very last day possible on his own theory of when the statute ran. Section 11-1-58 expressly provides that no expert review of the records is required where the plaintiff must file a complaint in order to avoid the statute of limitations, so possession of the records was not even an excuse. The statute of limitations is not intended to "allow non-diligent plaintiffs the opportunities to sleep on their rights indefinitely." *Doe v. Miss. Blood Servs., Inc.*, 704 So. 2d 1016, 1019 (Miss. 1997).

For whatever reason, Plaintiff sat on his rights rather than timely file the Complaint, which must now be dismissed as a matter of law.

-7-

B. "Unsoundness of Mind" Does Not Save the Complaint.

1. Subsection (6) of § 15-1-36 Controls Here.

The "disability of unsoundness of mind," § 15-1-36(5), does not assist Plaintiffhere.

Subsection (5) of the statute reads as follows:

If at the time at which the cause of action shall or with reasonable diligence might have been first known or discovered, the person to whom such claim has accrued shall be under the disability of unsoundness of mind, then such person or the person claiming through him may, notwithstanding that the period of time hereinbefore limited shall have expired, commence action on such claim at any time within two (2) years next after the time at which the person to whom the right shall have first accrued shall have ceased to be under the disability, or shall have died, whichever shall have first occurred.

Plaintiff argues that subsection (5) allows two years after the death of Conley in which to

"commence action on" his claim, it being taken as true for present purposes that Conley

passed away without her disability's having lifted.

Ì.

1.

1.1.

Subsection (6) of the same statute, however,¹ expressly limits subsection (5):

When any person who shall be under the disabilities mentioned in **subsections (3), (4) and (5) of this section** at the time at which his right shall have first accrued, **shall depart this life without having ceased to be under such disability**, no time shall be allowed by reason of the disability of such person to commence action on the claim of such person beyond **the period prescribed** under Section 15-1-55, Mississippi Code of 1972.

¹The language of subsection (6) has carried over with no material change from the first enactment of a medical-malpractice statute of limitations. Miss. Laws 1976 ch. 473, § 1 (last sentence). It then formed an exception to the language now at subsection (5), which was the preceding sentence in chapter 473 but included "the disability of infancy" as well as that of unsoundness of mind; infancy is now addressed at subsections (3) and (4), and the language of subsection (6) was modified to refer to "the disabilities mentioned in subsections (3), (4), and (5)" rather than to "either of the disabilities mentioned." The original effect, as now, was to create a one-year-after-death limit on bringing suit where the person of unsound mind passes away without that disability's having previously ceased.

- 3. Alternatively, If § 15-1-55 Is Merely Incorporated by Subsection (6), then Earlier Misreadings of § 15-1-55 Should Be Corrected.
- a. <u>Section 15-1-55 Does Not Support Its Reading in Hambrick</u>.

We do not believe that the correct interpretation of § 15-1-55 need be reached by this Court, because the controlling specific statute is § 15-1-36(6), which simply "borrows" the time span mentioned in § 15-1-55 without reproducing that statute. However, if this Court were inclined to disagree, and to look to the meaning of § 15-1-55 itself, then the issue would arise of a blatant imposition of a foreign meaning upon the plain language of that statute an imposition at odds with the text of the statute and with the constitutional position of this Court as against the Legislature.

The precursor of § 15-1-55 is Miss. Code 1880 § 2683, and the reading of the

statutory language in Triplett extends back to an 1886 decision by this Court:

Section 2083 [sic] of the Code of 1880 did not apply, because it is applicable only where the death of the person occurs within the last year of the time limited, and, if it was retroactive, so as to govern in case of the death of a person before it took effect, it did not apply in this case, because the death of the party did not occur within the last year of the time for the completion of the bar.

Hambrick v. Jones, 64 Miss. 240, 8 So. 176, 177 (1886) (emphasis added). The 1880 text²

was substantively identical to that of § 15-1-55:

If any person, entitled to bring any of the personal actions hereinbefore mentioned, or liable to any such action, shall die before the expiration of the time herein limited therefor, such action may be commenced by or against the

²No substantive change to the language of this statute appears in any Code after that of 1880, in which § 2683 had been amended from its previous incarnation as Miss. Code 1871 § 2162, which had set the savings period at one year after the issuance of letters testamentary. The 1972 Code made immaterial edits to the text ("herein" for "hereinbefore" and suchlike).

executor or administrator of the deceased person, after the expiration of said time, and within one year after the death of such person.

Miss. Code 1880 § 2683. As this Court can see, there is nothing in this text limiting its application to situations "where the death of the person occurs within the last year of the time limited." *Hambrick* does not cite any authority for that interpretation, which was simply an erroneous, unfounded construction of the statute — the kind this Court is duty-bound *not* to make. "[T]his Court has no right, prerogative, or duty to bend a statute to make it say what it does not say." *Franklin Collection Serv., Inc. v. Kyle*, 955 So. 2d 284, 288-89 (Miss. 2007).

One of the other two cases cited in *Triplett* is simply an unquestioning application of the rule invented in *Hambrick. See Weir v. Monahan*, 67 Miss. 434, 7 So. 291 (1890). The third case does not even apply the *Hambrick* rule, but simply observes that the one-year period runs from the date of death as per the 1880 Code, not from the appointment of an administrator as per the 1871 Code. *See Hughston v. Nail*, 73 Miss. 284, 18 So. 920, 921 (1895).

"Whatever the Legislature says in the text of the statute is considered the best evidence of the legislative intent." *Miss. Dep't of Transp. v. Allred*, 928 So. 2d 152, 155 (Miss. 2006). "It is not the proper role of a court to construe an unambiguous statute in a way contrary to its plain meaning." *Sandefer v. State*, 952 So. 2d 281, 287 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). These longstanding rules were disregarded by the *Hambrick* Court, calling that decision into serious question.

b. <u>Stare Decisis Does Not Require this Court to Follow Hambrick.</u>

Only two rationales can support this Court's arrogation to itself of power to rewrite a statute. One is "the canon of construction that when the legislature leaves statutory language unchanged, it presumably ratifies settled judicial interpretations of that language." *Tolbert v. Southgate Timber Co.*, 943 So. 2d 90, 96 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). The other rationale, which in practice amounts to the same thing, is *stare decisis*, which in the present case would amount to the veneration of past error, or as Justice Randolph recently put it, "the sanctification of ancient fallacy." *Mississippi Comm'n on Judicial Performance v. Martin,* 995 So. 2d 727, 733 n.5 (Miss. 2008) (Randolph, J., concurring) (quoting *Morrow v. Commonwealth*, 77 S.W.3d 558, 559 (Ky. 2002)).

This Court has recently recast the law of *stare decisis* in *Caves v. Yarbrough*, 991 So. 2d 142 (Miss. 2008), rejecting the unworkably vague "'pernicious/mischievous' test," which as observed in *Caves* had "virtually never been met," and had simply been disregarded when this Court did "not hesitate[] to reverse numerous prior cases which wrongly interpreted a statutory provision." *Caves*, 991 So. 2d at 153. Rejecting the old notion that "the Legislature's mere silence is enough," this Court held that, where the Legislature has "amended or reenacted" a statute "without correcting the prior interpretation" placed on it by this Court, *stare decisis* will require continued application of said prior interpretation, regardless of that interpretation's merits. *Caves*, 991 So. 2d at 153.

This ruling in *Caves* must be distinguished from the instance of the Legislature's "reenacting" a statute merely by virtue of adopting a new code.³ The ample United States

³In rejecting the rule that "mere silence is [not] enough," this Court thus very properly rejected the glib principle that "[t]he legislature has met many times . . . without any enactment directed toward the [statute in question] and thereby has approved the construction

Supreme Court authority cited in *Caves*, and the Mississippi cases relying in whole or part upon same, stand against the factual background of the United States Code, which rarely has been "reenacted" *in toto* in the manner of the Mississippi Code when a new codification issues.⁴

The two federal precedents particularly relied upon in *Caves*, *id.*, addressed *specific* reenactments of *particular* statutes, which was the situation present in *Caves* itself. *Helvering v. Hallock*, 309 U.S. 106, 130-32, (1940) (Roberts, J., dissenting) ("Congress has three times reenacted the law without amending § 302(c) in respect of the matter here in issue"); *Lorillard v. Pons*, 434 U.S. 575, 580-81, 585 (1978) ("where, as here, Congress adopts a new law incorporating sections of a prior law, Congress normally can be presumed to have had knowledge of the interpretation given to the incorporated law"; fact of Congress's "selective incorporation and amendment of the FLSA provisions for the ADEA" made it unlikely "that Congress was unaware" of judicial interpretation). The logic of *Lorillard* and of *Helvering* does not apply to a wholesale reenactment of the Mississippi

of the legislative intent placed thereon." Crosby v. Alton Ochsner Med. Fdn., 276 So. 2d 661, 670 (Miss. 1973). Such self-exonerating logic seems more appropriate to the little boy whose mother did not notice any unauthorized withdrawals from the cookie jar, than to a court of justice with a duty to apply the laws as they are enacted by the people of this State through their Legislature.

⁽Amazingly, the *Crosby* Court immediately went on to declare, without any learned justice's head exploding from cognitive dissonance, that "a decision of this Court interpreting the statute becomes in effect a part of the statute. Therefore, *if the statute is to be amended, it should be done by the legislature and not by judicial decision.*" *Id.* (emphasis added). So one would have thought! Of course, *Crosby* allowed the Court to "amend" by "interpreting" and thus to usurp the Legislature's constitutional function. *Stare decisis* mean never having to say you're sorry.)

⁴The first official codification of federal statutes appears to have been the Revised Statutes of 1874, reenacted in a corrected version in 1878, and replaced by the United States Code in the 1920s.

Code, in the course of which the Legislature can scarcely be thought to have perused the *Mississippi Reports* and *Southern Reporter* to make sure none of its many thousands of statutes had been amended by the courts.

It may bear mentioning that, in *Caves*, this Court did not mention that it was relying in part upon a *dissenting* opinion in *Helvering*, rather than upon the majority opinion; the *Helvering* majority did not hesitate to reject, in no uncertain terms, the wisdom of mistaking legislative silence for legislative consent:

It would require very persuasive circumstances enveloping Congressional silence to debar this Court from re-examining its own doctrines. To explain the cause of non-action by Congress when Congress itself sheds no light is to venture into speculative unrealities. Congress may not have had its attention directed to an undesirable decision; and there is no indication that as to the St. Louis Trust cases it had, even by any bill that found its way into a committee pigeon-hole. ... Various considerations of parliamentary tactics and strategy might be suggested as reasons for the inaction of the Treasury and of Congress, but they would only be sufficient to indicate that we walk on quicksand when we try to find in the absence of corrective legislation a controlling legal principle.

Helvering, 309 U.S. at 119-21 (emphasis added). Whatever the merits of Justice Frankfurter's opinion for the Court in *Helvering*, those merits surely apply all the more when we are asked to suppose that a Legislature, reenacting "every statute in the book" as a new codification, has first paused to consult this Court's interpretations of each and every one of those statutes, to ensure that nothing "pernicious, impractical, or mischievous" has crept in between the lines.

The present case, therefore, is of the sort this Court recognized in *Caves* when it said "we do not agree that the Legislature's mere silence is enough" from which to infer that the Legislature has "incorporate[d] an incorrect interpretation of a statute." *Caves*, 991 So. 2d at 153. This Court's duty is not to rationalize its past mistakes, but to apply statutes as

enacted by the Legislature, and it has the opportunity now to rectify a past mistake — *if* this Court should in fact reach the question of whether § 15-1-55 must be construed in reading § 15-1-36(6) — which, we reiterate, we do not think is required, because of our above argument that the one-year span of time mentioned in § 15-1-55 is all that is included in § 15-1-36(6).

4. Subsection (6) Indicates Legislative Intent to Bypass This Court's Construction of § 15-1-55.

Even if this Court is disinclined to revisit the *Hambrick* precedent, and thus prefers to allow its predecessors' mistake to stand, the wording of § 15-3-36(6) indicates that the Legislature opted not to incorporate § 15-1-55 (and thus this Court's previous, mistaken construction thereof), but rather to pluck out the one-year-after-death timespan mentioned therein. If this Court is indeed to attribute to the Legislature the near-omniscience implied in that august, but mortal, institution's supposed cognizance of every judicial interpretation of every statute it has enacted, then the careful wording of § 15-1-36(6) should be taken to indicate that the Legislature sought to avoid carrying over *Hambrick* and its progeny into § 15-1-36(6).

In short, a person of unsound mind may die with the statute of limitations about to run on her medical-malpractice action, but that period of limitation is extended to no more than one year past her death by § 15-1-36. In the present case, Conley's cause of action accrued more than two years *before* her death, allowing ample time for Plaintiff to file suit. Plaintiff, as shown above, slept on his rights and did not do so, and now is prevented from suit by the plain language of § 15-1-36. This Court should honor the Legislature's will and reverse the trial court's decision below.

-18-

II. Plaintiff's Attempts to Plead Around the Medical-Malpractice Statute of Limitations Fail as a Matter of Law.

The rest of Plaintiff's claims in his Complaint all amount to pleading medical malpractice as if it were something else. They all have in common that they invite this Court to dispense with the medical-malpractice statute of limitation enacted by the Legislature, an invitation which this Court should decline to accept.

An "institution for the aged and infirm" is defined, in the regulations promulgated by the Mississippi State Department of Health, as "a place . . . which provides group living arrangements for four (4) or more persons who are unrelated to the operator and who are being provided food, shelter, and personal care . . . includ[ing] nursing homes . . . provided that these institutions fall within the scope of the definition set forth above."⁵ Therefore, failure to meet any duty to provide such care, as alleged by Plaintiff, *just is* a failure to provide the services required of a nursing home, and thus, is medical malpractice under Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36.

This Court is not bound by Plaintiff's tactical mischaracterization of the alleged wrongs at issue in deciding which statute of limitations should apply. *See Lynch v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, 909 So. 2d 1289, 1292 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (plaintiff's characterization did not determine whether alleged tort was intentional or negligent); *see also Harrison County Devel. Comm'n v. Daniels Real Estate, Inc.*, 880 So. 2d 272, 276-77 (Miss. 2004) ("mere recitation of such words as 'negligent' and 'reckless disregard'" does not turn breach-of-contract action into tort claim) (overruled on other grounds by *City of Jackson v. Estate of*

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