## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

## DESOTO HEALTHCARE INC. d/b/a DESOTO HEALTHCARE CENTER

#### APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2008-IA-01762-SCT

## TIMOTHY CONLEY, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS SURVIVOR AND HEIR OF ESTER B. CONLEY, DECEASED

APPELLEE

## INTERLOCUTORY APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE DESOTO CIRCUIT COURT

#### **BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE**

#### ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

#### Of Counsel:

Bobby F. Martin, Jr. (MSB) THE COCHRAN FIRM – MEMPHIS One Commerce Square, 26<sup>th</sup> Floor Memphis, Tennessee 38103 Telephone: (901) 523-1222 Facsimile: (901) 523-1999

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether Plaintiff's Complaint was timely filed under Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36.

II. Whether Plaintiff's other claims were pleaded properly and timely filed.

į

į

ţ

1

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. Course of Proceedings Below

Plaintiff agrees with, and incorporates herein by reference, the "Course of Proceedings" as submitted in Defendant's Brief.

#### II. Statement of Relevant Facts

Plaintiff agrees with, and incorporates herein by reference, the "Statement of Relevant Facts" and timeline as submitted in Defendant's Brief, however, Plaintiff's counsel has no knowledge of records from Defendant being requested December 20, 2005 or received on February 27, 2006, as present counsel did not represent Plaintiff at that time. What actions other law firms or lawyers might have taken are of no relevance to this Appeal.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Ester B. Conley was a resident of Defendant nursing home from approximately August 2005 until February 23, 2006. At the time she left the facility, Ester B. Conley was under the disability of unsound mind. Ms. Conley sustained severe and permanent injuries as a result of the neglect and abuse of the Defendant. Ms. Conley passed away on March 19, 2006. Plaintiff filed the instant suit on May 19, 2006, two years and 60 days from Ester B. Conley's death.

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36 provides for a tolling of the limitations period, and

specifically states as follows:

į

If at the time at which the cause of action shall or with reasonable diligence might have been first known or discovered, the person to whom such claim has accrued shall be under the disability of unsoundness of mind, then such person or the person claiming through him may, notwithstanding that the period of time hereinbefore limited shall have expired, commence action on such claim at any time within two (2) years next after the time at which the person to whom the right shall have first accrued shall have ceased to be under the disability, or shall have died, whichever shall have first occurred.

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(5)(emphasis added).

Since the statute of limitation on Plaintiff's claims was tolled for 60 days due to Plaintiff's notice letter pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15), Plaintiff filed suit squarely within two years and 60 days of Ester B. Conley's date of death. Any attempt to shorten a well settled statute of limitations from two years to one year is contradictory to this Court's precedent and an abomination to the most vulnerable members of our society.

Furthermore, Plaintiff's additional theories of recovery (negligence, breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty and violation of Mississippi Consumer Protection Act) fall outside of the arena of medical malpractice. Not all failures of duties by Defendants are subject to Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36. Defendant's claim that these causes of action were included to

circumvent the medical malpractice two-year statute of limitation is further belied by the fact that Plaintiff's Complaint was timely filed within the period prescribed in Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Plaintiff's Complaint was Filed Timely Under § 15-1-36.

## 1. The Statute of Limitations Began to Run Upon the Death of Ester B. Conley, Not From the Date She Left the Facility.

Ester B. Conley was a resident of Defendant nursing home from approximately August 2005 until February 23, 2006. Ms. Conley sustained severe and permanent injuries as a result of the neglect and abuse of the Defendant. At the time she left the facility on February 23, 2006, Ester B. Conley was under the disability of unsound mind. Ms. Conley passed away just weeks later on March 19, 2006. The disability of "unsoundness of mind" is addressed in the medical malpractice statute for purposes of determining when the statute of limitations begins to run. Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(5) reads as follows:

If at the time at which the cause of action shall or with reasonable diligence might have been first known or discovered, the person to whom such claim has accrued shall be under the disability of unsoundness of mind, then such person or the person claiming through him may, notwithstanding that the period of time hereinbefore limited shall have expired, commence action on such claim at any time within two (2) years next after the time at which the person to whom the right shall have first accrued shall have ceased to be under the disability, or shall have died, whichever shall have first occurred.

(Emphasis added). Therefore, subsection (5) allows two years after the death of Ms. Conley within which to commence an action.

As correctly stated in Defendant's Brief at P. 6, subsection (15) of § 15-1-36 tolls the statute of limitations for up to 60 days. This Court interpreted this subsection to mean that the statute of limitations in medical-malpractice actions runs for two years plus 60 days. *Pope v.* 

*Brock*, 912 So.2d 935, 939 (Miss. 2005). Plaintiff's notice letter triggered the application of the above tolling, thus giving Plaintiff two years plus 60 days to file suit. Ms. Conley passed on March 19, 2006. The "unsoundness of mind" provision above provides that the statute of limitations begins to run on the date of her death. Thus, using the tolling calculation, two years and 60 days from her date of death is May 18, 2008. That date fell on a Sunday, so the limitations period extended to Monday, May 19, 2008, the date on which Plaintiff filed his Complaint.

Defendant devotes several paragraphs in its brief questioning the diligence of Plaintiff in filing his Complaint. (Def. Brief at 7) Whether a complaint is filed on the first day a statute of limitations begins to run or on the last day, it is still timely filed. What investigation another lawyer or law firm conducted has no bearing on this appeal. The only portion of Defendant's dialogue that is pertinent is the first few words of the first sentence of said paragraph, "It is therefore not strictly relevant, ....." Defendant should keep the issues in its brief relevant rather than what it thinks may be "perhaps of interest."

Taking the facts as alleged in the Complaint as true, the "unsoundness of mind" provision of Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(5) controls in this case. The statute of limitations did not begin to run until Ms. Conley's death. Therefore, the limitations period on Plaintiff's claims did not commence until Ms. Conley's death on March 19, 2006. Pursuant to the notice provision of Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(15), the statute is tolled and runs for two years and 60 days. Accordingly, Plaintiff's Complaint was timely filed on May 19, 2008.

## 2. Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(6) does not supersede the provisions of § 15-1-36(5), reducing the applicable statutory period to one year after death of the patient.

Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(2) limits Plaintiff's medical malpractice claims to those acts

occurring within two years before Plaintiff's Complaint was filed. Miss. Code Ann.

#### § 15-1-36(2) provides:

(2) For any claim accruing on or after July 1, 1998, and except as otherwise provided in this section, no claim in tort may be brought against a licensed physician, osteopath, dentist, hospital, institution for the aged or infirm, nurse, pharmacist, podiatrist, optometrist or chiropractor for injuries or wrongful death arising out of the course of medical, surgical or other professional services unless it is filed within two (2) years from the date the alleged act, omission or neglect shall or with reasonable diligence might have been first known or discovered, and, except as described in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this subsection, in no event more than seven (7) years after the alleged act, omission or neglect occurred ....

*Id.* (emphasis added). Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(5) tolls the commencement of the two year limitations period until the removal of Ms. Conley's disability, in this case her death.

Defendant argues that if the Court were to look at the "unsoundness of mind" provision and date of Ms. Conley's death, then § 15-1-36(6) makes clear that Plaintiff's claims could not be filed later than one year after her death in any event. Defendants allege that § 15-1-36(6) does not remove any longer limitations periods but merely imposes a limitation in the event that a person dies while still under a disability. Yet, the reading proposed by Defendants clearly, significantly reduces the limitations period allowed to a disabled resident...a class of people that laws are generally made to protect!

The medical malpractice statute makes clear in §15-1-36(2) that all plaintiffs are allowed two years in which to assert their medical malpractice claims. Yet, under Defendants' theory, patients of unsound mind would be allowed **significantly less** time in which to assert any claims stemming from actions that occurred while still under the disability of unsound mind. Such a construction of the statute, reducing the universally applied two year limitations period because an incompetent has died, is ridiculous. The result for which the Defendant advocates is essentially that if you are mentally healthy, your statute of limitations is two years; however, if you cannot look out for yourself because of your mental capacity, your statute of limitations is half than that of a competent person. Such a Draconian result is an absurdity. That one is of unsound mind should extend, not shorten, the applicable limitations period.

The more logical reading of Section 15-1-36(6) is that it provides an extension of the time allowed for individuals who were subject to the disability of unsound mind but who died shortly before the statute of limitations has run on a particular claim. This is the construction that has long been applied to § 15-1-55, which is specifically mentioned and incorporated into § 15-1-36(6). There was no need to reference that statute had the Legislature intended that the statutes be construed separately.

Section 15-1-55 "has been repeatedly held not to apply in such cases unless the death of the injured decedent occurs within the last year in which a suit may have been brought for this injury." *See Triplett v. U.S.*, 213 F.Supp. 887, 889 (S.D. Miss. 1963) (citing *Weir v. Monachan*, 67 Miss. 434, 7 So. 291 (Miss. 1890)); *Hambrick v. Jones*, 64 Miss. 240, 8 So. 176 (Miss. 1886); *Hughston v. Nail*, 73 Miss. 284, 18 So. 290 (Miss. 1895).

A more consistent interpretation is that the one-year time limit provided under § 15-1-36(6) and § 15-1-55 would apply if the patient's death had been nearly two years after the removal of her disability or the termination of her residency at a health care facility. This oneyear time limit should not, however, apply to shorten the specific two-year limitations period set forth in §15-1-36(2) and § 15-1-36(5), when Ms. Conley died just weeks after leaving

Defendants' facility. Defendant's interpretation is ambiguous, at best, and, at worst, would eviscerate the rights of the most vulnerable people in our society.

"It is a general rule in construing statutes this Court will not only interpret the words used, but will consider the purpose and policy which the legislature had in view of enacting the law." State ex rel. Hood v. Madison County ex rel. Madison County Board of Supervisors, 873 So.2d 85, 88 (Miss. 2004) (citing Aikerson v. State, 274 So.2d 124, 127 (Miss. 1973)). "[The] doctrine of in pari material ... provides that if a statute is ambiguous, then this Court must resolve the ambiguity by applying the statute consistently with other statutes dealing with the same or similar subject matter." James v. State, 731 So.2d 1135, 1138 (Miss. 1999). Because the Legislature specifically incorporates the period prescribed under \$15-1-55, it necessarily intended that such period be construed under §15-1-36(6) in the same manner. Since Ms. Conley died just weeks after her discharge from Graceland, § 15-1-36(6) has no application on the construction of the applicable limitations period. Instead, § 15-1-36(5) controls. As such, the period began to commence upon her death according to the words of the statute, "...two years next the time at which the person to whom the right shall have first accrued shall have ceased to be under the disability, or shall have died, whichever shall have first occurred." Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36(5). Applying the one-year limitation proposed by Defendant would be a model of inconsistency.

#### II. Plaintiff's Other Claims Were Properly Pleaded and Timely Filed.

Defendant alleges that the sole reason for Plaintiff's other causes of action is to "dispense with the medical-malpractice statute of limitation...." (Def. Brief at 19) That argument is tantamount to putting the cart before the horse. The assumption made above is that Plaintiff did not file his claim within the applicable statute of limitation, which, as demonstrated above, is not

the case. The issues surrounding Plaintiff's other claims are not ripe at this point and need not be addressed.

However, in the event the Court deems thern ripe necessitating argument, Plaintiff would incorporate by reference, as if briefed herein, the Brief of Appellant in *Estate of Ardelua Johnson, et al v. Graceland Care Center of Oxford, LLC, et al*, No. 2008-CA-00688 (Miss. filed Oct. 2, 2008) at pp.18-35 and Reply Brief of Appellant in the same cause at pp. 9-19. These portions of Appellant's Brief and Reply accurately and thoroughly address why Plaintiff's additional theories of recovery fall outside of the arena of medical malpractice. Not all failures of duties by Defendants are subject to Miss. Code Ann. § 15-1-36.

į

# **CONCLUSION**

Based on the foregoing, Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Order of the Trial Court be

affirmed and for whatever other relief the Court may deem just and proper.